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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes 2023 2022

REVENUES 2,3,20 9,729,416 ₱             11,716,348 ₱        

COST OF SERVICES 2,21 (3,151,442)               (3,816,495)            

GROSS PROFIT 6,577,974                 7,899,853             

OPERATING EXPENSES 2,21 (9,428,613)               (8,995,895)            

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (2,850,639)               (1,096,042)            

FINANCE INCOME 2,4,23 762,858                    200,141                

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE (2,087,781)               (895,901)               

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX 2,25

Current 157,745                    29,759                  

Deferred (288,550)                  3,917,783             

(130,805)                  3,947,542             

NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR (1,956,976)               (4,843,443)            

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME (LOSS)

Net unrealized gain (loss) on

financial assets at FVOCI 2,3,6 2,880,000                 (13,680,000)          

Income tax effect 15,25 (720,000)                  3,420,000             

2,160,000                 (10,260,000)          

Actuarial gain  - Defined benefit obligation 2,22 125,067                    252,597                

Income tax effect 15,25 (31,267)                    (63,149)                 

93,800                      189,448                

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (LOSS) 2,253,800                 (10,070,552)          

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (LOSS) 296,824 ₱                (14,913,995)₱        

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted 24 3.49 ₱                      8.65 ₱                   
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See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

              Years Ended  December 31

Other comprehensive income not to be 

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 

periods

   





STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Notes 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before income tax expense (2,087,781)₱              (895,901)₱           
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 2,3,10 669,223                    680,177               
Retirement expense 2,22 324,016                    240,971               
Net unrealized (gain) on financial assets at FVPL 19 (684,756)                   (115,370)              
Dividend income 2,5,19 (2,559,987)                (2,731,188)           
Interest income 2,4,23 (762,858)                   (200,141)              

Operating (loss) before working capital changes (5,102,143)                (3,021,452)           
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in:
Financial assets at FVPL 2,3,5 352,677                    257,526               
Receivable from customers 2,3,7 6,501,369                 3,177,637            
Receivable from clearing house 2,3,8 (7,498,299)                5,379,081            
Prepayments and other current assets 2,3,9 (823,141)                   (1,163,127)           

Increase (decrease) in:
Payable to customers 2,3,12 (49,540,588)              62,456,630          
Payable to clearing house 2,3,13 (4,409,138)                4,409,138            
Accrued expense and

other current liabilities 2,3,14 (521,069)                   (136,499)              
Cash (used in) provided by operations (61,040,332)              65,003,660          
Dividends received 2,5,19 2,559,987                 2,731,188            
Interest received 2,4,23 605,113                    170,382               
Income tax paid 2 (27,559)                     (50,533)                

Net cash (used in) provided by operations (57,902,791)              67,854,697          

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of property and equipment 2,3,10 -                            (10,893)                
Utilization of other noncurrent assets 2,12 -                            66,388                 
Net cash  provided by investing activities -                            55,495                 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Payment of dividends 17 -                            (1,188,000)           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE)  IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS (57,902,791)              66,722,192          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,3,4 182,153,389             115,431,197        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
END OF YEAR 2,3,4 124,250,598 ₱          182,153,389 ₱     

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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1. Corporate Information 

 

Solar Securities, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated on December 3, 1992 to carry on and maintain 

the business of stock brokerage and act as dealer of securities, bonds, debentures, commodities, 

obligations and investment of all kinds and all activities, which are directly or indirectly related.   

 

Its registered office address is located at Unit 3002 East Tower Philippine Stock Exchange Centre, 

Ortigas Center, Pasig City.   

 

The accompanying financial statements of the Company were authorized for issue by the Board of 

Directors on April 8, 2024. 

 

2. Material Accounting Policy Information 

 

The more material accounting policies and practices of the Company are summarized below to facilitate 

the understanding of data presented in the financial statements. 

 

Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards (PFRS). The term PFRS includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards 

(PAS) and interpretation, which have been approved by the Financial Reporting Standards Council 

(FRSC) and adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including SEC 

pronouncements. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for financial assets 

at FVPL and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) that have 

been measured at fair value. The Company’s financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, 

which is the functional and presentation currency under PFRS. All values are rounded to the nearest 

peso except as otherwise indicated. 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 

the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, 

or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in 

 Note 3. 

 

Statement of Compliance 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with the PFRS except for 

the use of closing prices for the valuation of equity securities as required by Revised SRC. PFRS 

requires the use of exit prices for the valuation of equity securities of the Company. 

 

Fair Value Measurement 

The Company measures financial instruments at fair value at each financial position date.  

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 

on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:   

 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or  

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability  
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The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Company. The fair value 

of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 

pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.  

 

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 

generate economic benefits by using the assets in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 

sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 

and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 

are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:  

 

 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)  

 Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs)  

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, 

the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in hierarchy by re-assessing 

categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 

whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies 

The following explains the material accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of 

the financial statements. 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

financial statements, except for the changes in accounting policies as explained below. 

 

New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Company  

The Company has applied the following applicable new and revised accounting standards except 

otherwise as stated. The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial 

year. 

 

Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

The amendments provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 

accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy 

disclosures that are more useful by: 

• Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a 

requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and 

• Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about 

accounting policy disclosures. 

 

The amendments to Practice Statement provide non-mandatory guidance. Meanwhile, the amendments 

to PAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Early application is 

permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. 
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The amendments had an impact on the Company’s disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the 

measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the financial statements. 

 

Amendments to PAS 1 and PAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates 

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in 

accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement 

techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. 

 

These amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and 

apply to changes in accounting policies and accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that 

period. Earlier application is permitted.  

 

The amendments do not have an impact on the Company. 

 

Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Asset and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction 

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under PAS 12, so that it no 

longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. 

 

The amendments also clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax purpose, 

it is a matter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such deductions are 

attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in financial statements (and interest expenses) 

or to the related asset component (and interest expenses). 

 

An entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier 

adoption permitted.  

 

The amendments do not have material impact on the Company. 

 

Amendments to PAS 12, International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules 

The amendments introduce a mandatory exception in PAS 12 from recognizing and disclosing deferred 

tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes. 

 

The amendments also clarify that PAS 12 applies to income taxes arising from tax law enacted or 

substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two Model Rules published by the Organization for 

Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) including tax law that implements qualified 

domestic minimum top up taxes. Such tax legislation and the income taxes arising from it are referred 

to as ‘Pillar Two legislation’ and ‘Pillar Two income taxes’, respectively. 

 

The temporary exception from recognition and disclosure of information about deferred taxes and the 

requirement to disclose the application of the exception, apply immediately and retrospectively upon 

adoption of the amendments in June 2023. 

 

Meanwhile, the disclosure of the current tax expense related to Pillar Two income taxes and the 

disclosures in relation to periods before the legislation is effective are required for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 

 

The amendments have no impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
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Standards Issued but not yet Effective 

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Company 

does not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncement will have a significant impact on 

its financial statements. The Company intends to adopt the following pronouncement when they 

become effective. 

 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024 

 

Amendments to PAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

The amendments to paragraph 69 to 76 of PAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities 

as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement 

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 

would the terms of a liability not impact its classification 

 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and 

must be applied retrospectively. However, in November 2021, the International Accounting Standard 

Board (IASB) tentatively decided to defer the effective date to no earlier than January 1, 2024. 

 

The amendments are not expected to have an impact on the Company. 

 

Amendments to PFRS 16, Leases –   

The amendments clarify that the liability that arises from a sale and leaseback transaction, that satisfies 

the requirements in PFRS 15, revenue from Contracts with Customers, to be accounted for as a sale, is 

a lease liability to which PFRS 16 applies and give rise to a right-of-use asset. For the subsequent 

measurement, the seller-lessee shall determine ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ in a way 

that the seller-lessee would not recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use 

retained by the seller-lessee. Applying this subsequent measurement does not prevent the seller-lessee 

from recognizing any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. Any gain or loss 

relating to the partial or full termination of the lease does not relate to the right of use retained but to 

the right of use terminated. The amendments must be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is 

permitted. 

 

The amendments are not expected to have an impact on the Company. 

 

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7, Supplier Finance Arrangements 

 

In May 2023, the International Accounting Standards Board issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of 

Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. With the amendments, the IASB has 

introduced new disclosure requirements in IFRS Standards to enhance the transparency and, thus, the 

usefulness of the information provided by entities about supplier finance arrangements. 

 

Entities will have to disclose the effects of supplier finance arrangements on their liabilities, cash flows 

and exposure to liquidity risk. 

 

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1st January 2024, 

with early application permitted. 

 

The amendments are not expected to have an impact on the Company. 
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Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025: 

 

Amendments to PFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

The amendments to PFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, a comprehensive new accounting standard for 

insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once 

effective, PFRS 17 will replace PFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (PFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. PFRS 

17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), 

regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial 

instruments with discretionary participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.  

 

The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is more 

useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are largely based 

on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for 

insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of PFRS 17 is the general model, 

supplemented by: 

 

• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach) 

• A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts. 

 

On December 15, 2021, the FRSC amended the mandatory effective date of PFRS from January 1, 

2023 to January 1, 2025. This is consistent with Circular Letter No. 2020-62 issued by the Insurance 

Commission which deferred the implementation of PFRS 17 by two (2) years after its effective date as 

decided by the IASB. 

 

PFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025, with comparative 

figures required. Early application is permitted provided the entity also applies PFRS 9 and PFRS 15 

on or before the date it first applies PFRS 17.  

 

The amendments are not expected to have an impact on the Company.  

 

Amendments to PAS 21, Lack of exchangeability 

The amendments clarify how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it 

should determine a spot exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking, as well as require the disclosure 

of information that enables users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not 

being exchangeable. 

 

The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Earlier 

application is permitted, in which case, an entity is required to disclose that fact. The date of initial 

application is the beginning of the annual reporting period in which an entity first applies the 

amendments. 

 

The amendments are not expected to have an impact on the Company.  

 

Deferred Effectivity 

 

Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of 

Assets between an Investor and its Associates or Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 8 in dealing with the loss of control 

of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that 

the full gain or loss is recognized when transfer to an associate or joint venture involves a business as 

defined in PFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does not 

constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the 

associate or joint ventures. 
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The amendments are not applicable and will have no impact on the Company since the Company is not 

an investment entity or does it have an investment entity associate. 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are temporary placements with maturity of 

less than three (3) months which can be withdrawn anytime depending on the immediate cash 

requirement of the Company and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Date of Recognition  

The Company recognizes a financial asset or financial liability in the statements of financial position 

when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument.  In the case of a regular 

way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using 

settlement date accounting. 

 

Initial Recognition and Measurement 

Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration 

given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a liability).  The initial measurement of financial 

instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes 

transaction cost. 

 

“Day 1” difference 

Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable current 

market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include 

only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction 

price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss.  

 

In cases where there is no observable data on inception, the Company deems the transaction price as 

the best estimate of fair value and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs 

become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Company 

determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference. 

 

Classification 

The Company classifies its financial assets at initial recognition under the following categories:  

a) financial assets at FVPL; b) financial assets at amortized cost and c) financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).   

 

Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are classified as either financial liabilities at FVPL or financial 

liabilities at amortized cost.  The classification of a financial instrument largely depends on the 

Company’s business model and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 

 

Financial Assets and Liabilities at FVPL 

Financial assets and liabilities at FVPL are either classified as held for trading or designated at FVPL.  

A financial instrument is classified as held for trading if it meets either of the following conditions: 

 

• it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;  

• on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed 

together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 

effective hedging instrument). 

 

This category includes equity instruments which the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify 

at FVOCI at initial recognition.  This category includes debt instruments whose cash flows are not 
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“solely for payment of principal and interest” assessed at initial recognition of the assets, or which are 

not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both 

collect contractual cash flows and sell. 

 

The Company may, at initial recognition, designate a financial asset or financial liability meeting the 

criteria to be classified at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as a financial asset or financial liability at FVPL, 

if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting mismatch that would arise from measuring 

these assets or liabilities. 

 

After initial recognition, financial assets at FVPL and held for trading financial liabilities are 

subsequently measured at fair value.  Unrealized gains or losses arising from the fair valuation of 

financial assets at FVPL and held for trading financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

For financial liabilities designated at FVPL under the fair value option, the amount of change in fair 

value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognized in other 

comprehensive income (rather than in profit or loss), unless this creates an accounting mismatch.  

Amounts presented in other comprehensive income are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss. 

 

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 

Financial assets shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 

order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measure at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, if any.  Amortized cost is calculated 

by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the financial assets are 

derecognized and through amortization process.  Financial assets at amortized cost are included under 

current assets if realizability or collectability is within 12 months after the reporting period.  Otherwise, 

these are classified as noncurrent assets. 

 

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022 the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, receivables from 

customers and receivables from clearing house are included under this category (see Notes 4,7,8). 

 

Financial Assets at FVOCI 

For debt instruments that meet the contractual cash flow characteristic and are not designated at FVPL 

under the fair value option, the financial assets shall be measured at FVOCI if both of the following 

conditions are met: 

 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 

order to collect contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

For equity instruments, the Company may irrevocably designate the financial asset to be measured at 

FVOCI in case the above conditions are not met. 

 

Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial 

recognition, interest income (calculated using the effective interest rate method), foreign currency gains 

or losses and impairment losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI are recognized directly in 
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profit or loss.  When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gains or losses previously 

recognized in OCI are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 

 

Dividends from equity instruments held at FVOCI are recognized in profit or loss when the right to 

receive payment is established, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of 

the investment.  Foreign currency gains or losses and unrealized gains or losses from equity instruments 

are recognized in OCI and presented in the equity section of the statements of financial position.  These 

fair value changes are recognized in equity and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 

periods. 

 

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company designated its quoted investments in equity securities 

carried at fair value as financial assets at FVOCI as disclosed in Note 6. 

 

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost 

Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at amortized cost when the substance of a 

contractual arrangement results in the Company having an obligation either to deliver cash or another 

financial asset to the holder or to settle the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments. 

 

These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction 

costs.  After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost 

using effective interest method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 

premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Gains and losses 

are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or through the amortization 

process. 

 

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s liabilities arising from its trade payables to 

customers, payable to clearing house and accrued expense and other current liabilities excluding 

government liabilities, are included under this category (see Notes 12, 13 and 14) 

 

Reclassification 

The Company reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its business model for 

managing those financial assets.  The reclassification is applied prospectively from the first day of the 

first reporting period following the change in the business model (reclassification date). 

 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial assets 

at FVPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amortized cost of the 

financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss. 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial assets 

at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of the 

financial asset and fair value is recognized in OCI. 

 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVPL category to financial assets at 

amortized cost, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount. 

 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at 

amortized cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in OCI, and any difference between the new 

amortized cost and maturity amount, are amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life of the 

investment using the effective interest method.  If the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any gain 

or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 

 

In the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss shall be recognized 

in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed.  If the financial asset is subsequently 
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impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit 

or loss. 

 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVPL category to financial assets at 

FVOCI, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount.  Meanwhile, 

for a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at 

FVPL, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified 

from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment at the reclassification date. 

 

Impairment of Financial Assets  

 

Expected credit loss methodology 

 

ECL represent credit losses that reflect an unbiased and probability-weighted amount which is 

determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value of money and reasonable and 

supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 

conditions. ECL allowances will be measured at amounts equal to either: 

 

• 12-month ECL 

• lifetime ECL for those financial instruments which have experienced a significant increase in 

credit risk since initial recognition.  

 

The 12-month ECL is the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default events on a financial 

instrument that are possible within the twelve (12) months after the reporting date. Lifetime ECL are 

credit losses that results from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial asset. 

 

Staging assessment 

 

For non-credit-impaired financial instruments: 

 

Stage 1 is comprised of all non-impaired financial assets which have not experienced a SICR since 

initial recognition. The Company recognizes a 12-month ECL for Stage 1 financial assets. 

 

Stage 2 is comprised of all non-impaired financial assets which have experienced a SICR since initial 

recognition. The Company recognizes a lifetime ECL for Stage 2 financial assets. 

For credit-impaired financial instruments: 

Financial instruments are classified as Stage 3 when there is objective evidence of impairment. 

 

Write-off Policy 

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual 

cashflows. 

 

Definition of “default” 

The Company classifies receivables, or any financial asset as in default when it is credit impaired or 

becomes past due on its contractual payments for more than 90 days. As part of a qualitative assessment 

of whether a customer is in default, the Company considers a variety of instances that may indicate 

unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Company carefully considers whether the event 

should result in treating the customer as defaulted. 

 

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

The credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased significantly since initial 

recognition if, based on the Company’s aging information, the borrower becomes past due for over 30 

days. Further, the Company assumes that the credit risk of a financial asset, particularly on cash and 
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equivalents and receivables from customers, clearing house and non-customers, has not increased 

significantly since origination if the financial asset is determined to have “low credit risk” as of the 

reporting date. A financial asset is considered “low credit risk” when it has an external rating equivalent 

to “high grade”. 

 

In subsequent reporting periods, if the credit risk of the financial instrument improves such that there 

is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Company shall revert to 

recognizing a 12-month ECL. 

 

Impairment of financial assets at Amortized Cost and FVOCI 

 

The Company will recognize an allowance for “expected credit loss” (ECL) if there is an indication of 

default. ECL is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 

contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.  The difference is then discounted 

at an approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

 

For trade receivables, the Company has applied the simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based 

on the lifetime expected credit losses.  The Company has established a provision matrix that is based 

on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and 

the economic environment. 

 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 

Financial Assets 

A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognized when: 

 

• the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; 

• the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the financial asset, but has assumed an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement; or 

• the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the financial asset and either (a) 

has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from a financial asset or has entered 

into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial asset nor transferred control of the financial asset, the financial 

asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the financial asset.  

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred financial asset is 

measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the financial asset and the maximum amount 

of consideration that the Company could be required to pay. 

 

Financial Liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 

has expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 

exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 

new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statements of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

A modification is considered substantial if the present value of the cash flows under the new terms, 

including net fees paid or received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is different 

by at least 10% from the discounted present value of remaining cash flows of the original liability. 
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The fair value of the modified financial liability is determined based on its expected cash flows, 

discounted using the interest rate at which the Company could raise debt with similar terms and 

conditions in the market.  The difference between the carrying value of the original liability and fair 

value of the new liability is recognized in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income. 

 

On the other hand, if the difference does not meet the 10% threshold, the original debt is not 

extinguished but merely modified.  In such case, the carrying amount is adjusted by the costs or fees 

paid or received in the restructuring. 

 

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of 

financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 

amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets 

and liabilities are presented gross in the statements of financial position. 

 

Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity 

A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to: 

• Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; 

• Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially unfavorable to the Company; or 

• Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 

 

If the Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset 

to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability. 

 

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging 

Freestanding Derivatives.  For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either:  

a)  fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or 

liability or an unrecognized firm commitment (except for foreign currency risk);  

b) cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 

particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability, a highly probable forecast transaction 

or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognized firm commitment; or 

c) hedges of a net investment in foreign operations. 

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge 

relationship to which the Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management 

objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  The documentation includes identification of the 

hedging instruments, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the 

entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the 

hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.  Such hedges are expected to be 

highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an 

ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial 

reporting periods for which they were designated. 

 

Fair Value Hedge.  Derivatives classified as fair value hedges are carried at fair value with 

corresponding change in fair value recognized in the statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. The carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability is also adjusted for changes 

in fair value attributable to the hedged item and the gain or loss associated with that remeasurement is 

also recognized in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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When the hedge ceases to be highly effective, hedge accounting is discontinued and the adjustment to 

the carrying amount of a hedged financial instrument is amortized immediately.  

 

The Company discontinues fair value hedge accounting if: 

 

a) the hedging instrument expires, is sold, is terminated or is exercised; 

b) the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting; or 

c) the Company revokes the designation. 

 

The Company has no derivatives accounted for as a fair value hedge as at December 31, 2023 and 

2022. 

 

Cash Flow Hedge.  Changes in the fair value of a hedging instrument that qualifies as a highly effective 

cash flow hedge are recognized in other comprehensive income presented in the separate statements of 

changes in equity.  The ineffective portion is immediately recognized in the statements of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income.   

 

If the hedged cash flow results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, all gains or losses previously 

recognized directly in the separate statements of changes in equity are transferred and included in the 

initial measurement of the cost or carrying amount of the asset or liability.  Otherwise, for all other 

cash flow hedges, gains or losses initially recognized in the separate statements of changes in equity 

are transferred to the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the same period 

or periods during which the hedged forecasted transaction or recognized asset or liability affects the 

statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 

When the hedged ceases to be highly effective, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.  The 

cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been reported directly in the separate 

statements of changes in equity is retained until the forecasted transaction occurs.  When the forecasted 

transaction is no longer expected to occur, any net cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the 

separate statements of changes in equity is recognized in the statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. 

 

The Company has no outstanding derivatives accounted for as a cash flow hedge as at December 31, 

2023 and 2022. 

 

Net Investment Hedge.  Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a 

monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to 

cash flow hedges.  Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the 

hedge are recognized in other comprehensive income while any gain or loss relating to the ineffective 

portion is recognized in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  On disposal 

of a foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains and losses recorded in the separate 

statements of changes in equity is transferred to and recognized in the statements of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income. 

 

The Company has no hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation as at December 31, 2023 and 

2022. 

 

Changes in fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognized directly 

in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 

Embedded Derivatives.  The Company assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be 

separated from the host contracts when the Company becomes a party to the contract. An embedded 
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derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as derivative if all of the following 

conditions are met: 

 

a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely related to the 

economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; 

b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition 

of a derivative; and 

c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized as FVPL. 

 

Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 

the cash flows that would otherwise be required. 

 

Embedded derivatives that are bifurcated from the host contracts are accounted for either as financial 

assets or financial liabilities at FVPL. 

 

The Company has no derivatives as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any.   

 

The initial cost of property, furniture and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import 

duties and taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and 

location for its intended use.   When significant parts of property, furniture and equipment are required 

to be replaced at intervals, the Company recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful 

lives and depreciates them accordingly.  

 

Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the 

furniture and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and 

maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income as incurred. 

 

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives of the assets: 

 

        Condominium unit    40 years 

  Office furniture, fixtures and equipment    3 years 

  Transportation equipment     6 years 

   

The useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, furniture and equipment are reviewed at each 

financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

 

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 

in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If any such indication exists and 

where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized 

in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Intangible Asset 

Trading Rights 

Trading rights is carried at fair value. It is initially recorded at cost. It has indefinite useful life and is 

tested for impairment annually at the cash generating-unit level. Such intangible asset is not amortized. 

The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether 

indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment 

from indefinite to definite is made on a prospective basis. 
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Trading rights is subsequently measured at fair value.  The fair value of the asset can be determined by 

reference to an active market at a subsequent measurement date, the revaluation model is applied from 

that date. If an intangible asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase 

shall be credited directly to equity under the heading of revaluation surplus. However, the increase 

shall be recognized in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income to the extent that it 

reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss. 

 

If an intangible asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation the decrease shall be 

recognized in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. However, the decrease shall 

be debited directly to equity under the heading of revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance 

in the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset. 

 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 

Property, furniture and equipment and trading rights are reviewed for impairment when events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If any such 

indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or 

cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amounts.   

 

The estimated recoverable amount is the greater of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 

in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are 

taken into account, if available.  If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation 

model is used.   

 

These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.  For 

an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the estimated recoverable amount is 

determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  Impairment loss is recognized in 

the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 

Reversal of impairment losses recognized in prior years is recorded when that there is an indication 

that the impairment losses recognized for the asset no longer exist or have decreased.  The reversal is 

recorded in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.   

 

However, the increased carrying amount of an asset due to reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 

to the extent that it does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of 

depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 

 

Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets 

An item of the property, furniture and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on the derecognition 

of the assets (computed as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 

of the asset) is included in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year the 

assets is derecognized. 

 

Capital Stock 

Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. This includes common stocks only. 

 

Retained Earnings 

Retained earnings represent cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend contributions, 

prior period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policy and other capital adjustments. 
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Cash dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from retained earnings when approved by 

the Board of Directors.  

 

Revenue Recognition  

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The standard requires the 

Company to exercise judgment, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances 

when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also specifies the 

accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a 

contract. The PFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with 

customers. The five-step model is as follows:  

 

• Identify the contract(s) with a customer  

• Identify the performance obligations in the contract  

• Determine the transaction price  

• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the contract  

• Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

 

The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

 

Commissions 

The Company’s main revenue is derived from commission income on trade execution service 

recognized at a point in time when control of the service has transferred to the customer.  Transfer of 

control of the trade execution performance obligation generally occurs on the trade date because that 

is when the underlying financial instrument is identified and the pricing is agreed upon.  On the trade 

date, the customer has obtained control of the service because it can direct the use of, and obtain 

substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the asset that comes from the trade execution service. 

Commission income is derived from variable amounts which is 0.25% to 0.30% of the gross trade 

amount and therefore the amount of revenue to be earned from each contract is determined by reference 

to each of those trade transactions. 

 

Trade transactions are usually settled 3-days after the trade date (T+3 settlement rule). 

 

Interest Income 

Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues using the effective interest rate method.  

 

Dividend Income 

Dividend income is recognized when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established. 

 

Trading gains (losses) – net 

Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value for 

financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL and gains and losses from disposal of investment 

securities at FVTPL. 

 

Unrealized trading gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the 

period and from reversal of prior period’s unrealized gains and losses for financial instruments which 

were realized in the reporting period.  Realized gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments 

classified as at FVTPL are calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO method.  It represents the 

difference between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount. 
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Expenses Recognition 

Expenses are recognized when it is probable that a decrease in future economic benefit related to a 

decrease in an asset or an increase in liability has occurred and the decrease in future economic benefits 

can be measured reliably. Expenses encompass losses as well as those expenses that arise in the course 

of the ordinary activities of the Company. Expenses are recognized as incurred. 

 

Comprehensive Income 

The Company uses single statement of comprehensive income, in which it presents all items of income 

and expense recognized in the period. 

 

Related Party Relationships and Transactions 

Related party relationship exists when (a) a person or a close member of that person’s family has control 

or joint control, has significant influence or is a member of the key management personnel of the 

reporting entity or a parent of the reporting entity. (b) An entity is related to the Company if, the entity 

and the Company are members of the same group, one entity is an associate or joint venture of the 

other entity, both entities are joint ventures of the same third party, one entity is a joint venture of a 

third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third party, an entity is a post-employment benefit 

plan for the benefit of employees of the Company, the entity is controlled or joint controlled by a person 

who has control or joint control over the Company and a person as identified in (a) above has significant 

influence over the entity is a member of the key management personnel of the entity or of a parent of 

the entity. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance 

of the relationships, and not merely to the legal form. 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties, 

regardless of whether a price is charged. 

 

Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits  

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits (such as health 

services and childcare services) are recognized as employee benefit expense and accrued when the 

associated services are rendered by the employee of the Company. Other employee benefits include 

Social Security System, Philhealth and other contributions. 

 

Retirement Cost 

The Company does not have an established retirement plan and only conforms to the minimum 

regulatory benefit under the Retirement Pay Law (Republic Act No. 7641) which is of the defined 

benefit type and provides a retirement benefit equal to 22.5 days pay for every year of credited service.  

The regulatory benefit is paid in a lump sum upon retirement. 

 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined by applying the Accrued Benefit Cost Method taking 

into account the factors of investment, mortality, disability and salary projection rate. 

 

The amended PAS 19(R) simplifies the reporting of the defined benefit cost by introducing the Net 

Interest Approach, which disaggregates the defined benefit cost into the following components:  

Service cost, Net interest and Remeasurements. 

 

Under the Net Interest Approach, Service Cost and Net Interest on the defined benefit liability (asset) 

are both recognized in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

while remeasurements of the defined benefit liability (asset) are recognized outside profit or loss in 

Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). 
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It is further required by Amended PAS 19 (R) that remeasurements recognized in OCI shall not be 

reclassified to profit or loss in a subsequent period.  However, the Company may transfer those amounts 

recognized in OCI within equity. 

 

Leases 

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 

consideration. 

 

Company as a lessee 

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short 

term leases. The Company recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 

representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

 

Income Taxes 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.  

 

Current tax 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 

at the financial position date where the company operate and generate taxable income. Management 

periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 

regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 

Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are 

not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not 

accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a 

business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 

loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred 

income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 

will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities 

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 

taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 

 

Current and deferred tax for the year 

Current and deferred tax are recognized in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

except when they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity respectively.  

 

Value-added Tax (VAT) 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except: 

• where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 

authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 

as part of the expense item applicable; and 

• receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
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Loss Per Share  

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the year. 

 

Diluted loss per share amount is calculated by dividing net loss by the number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year plus the number of ordinary shares outstanding that would be issued on the 

conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

 

Provisions  

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic 

resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be 

uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has 

resulted from past events. 

 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based 

on the most reliable evidence available at the financial position date, including the risks and 

uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Any reimbursement expected to be received in 

the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain as a separate asset, 

not exceeding the amount of the related provision.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, 

the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of 

obligations as a whole.  In addition, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values, where 

time value of money is material. Provisions are reviewed at each financial position date and adjusted 

to reflect the current best estimate. 

 

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is 

considered probable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no 

liability is recognized in the financial statements. 

 

Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are 

considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements. 

 

Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the Company.  They are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the 

possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 

 

A contingent asset is not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of 

economic benefits is probable. 

 

Events After the Reporting Date 

The Company identifies post year-end events as events that occurred after the reporting date but before 

the date when the financial statements were authorized for issue. Post year-end events that provide 

additional information about the Company’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are 

reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in 

the financial statements when material. 

 

Comparatives 

When necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the changes in the presentation 

of the current year. 
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3. Management Use of Estimates and Judgments  

 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 

amounts reported in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 

affected. 

 

In particular, information about the significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments 

in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 

financial statements is included in the following: 

 

Judgments 

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgments, apart from those involving estimations that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognized in the financial statements: 

 
a) Determination of Functional Currency 

 
The Company has determined that its functional currency is the Philippine Peso. The determination 
of the functional currency was based on the primary economic environment in which the Company 
generates cash. 
 
 

b) Classification of Financial Instruments 
 

The Company classifies a financial instrument, or its component parts, on initial recognition as a 

financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual agreement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity 

instrument.  In addition, the Company also determines and evaluates its intention and ability to keep 

the investments until its maturity date. 

 

The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, and the management’s intention 

and ability to hold the financial instrument to maturity generally governs its classification in the 

statements of financial position. 

 

The classification of the Company’s financial instruments is presented in Note 2. 

 

c) Determination of lease term of contracts with renewal option – Company as a lessee 

The Company has several lease contracts that include renewal option. The Company applies 

judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to 

renew the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to 

exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there 

is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to 

exercise or not to exercise the option to renew (e.g., construction of significant leasehold 

improvements or significant customization to the leased asset). 
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Estimates 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty as at the date 

of financial position that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

 

a) Estimating credit losses on receivables 

 

The Company reviews its receivable from clearing house and customers on a periodic basis to 

assess their impairment at an individual level.  In assessing for impairment, the Company 

determines whether there is any objective evidence indicating that there is a measurable decrease 

in the estimated future cash flows of its receivables. 

 

Factors considered in individual assessment are payment history, past-due status and term.  The 

methodology and assumptions used for individual assessment are based on management’s 

judgment and estimate.  The amount and timing of recognizing credit loss for any period would 

differ if the Company made different assumptions or utilized different estimates.  An increase in 

allowance for credit losses would decrease net profit and total assets. 

 

As provided in the Revised Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 52.1, every broker dealer shall 

establish appropriate allowance for credit losses and the basis for such computation of the 

allowance shall be properly disclosed.  The SEC or the PSE shall have the prerogative to determine 

the reasonableness of such receivable valuation taking into consideration the GAAP and industry 

practices. 

 

Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognized based on the simplified approach within 

PFRS 9 using the lifetime expected credit losses.  During this process the probability of the non-

payment of the trade receivables is assessed.  This probability is then multiplied by the amount of 

the expected loss arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for the trade 

receivables.  For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a 

separate provision account with the loss being recognized within operating expenses in the 

statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.   

 

On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectible, the gross carrying value of the 

asset is written off against the associated provision. 

 

Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related parties are 

recognized based on a forward looking expected credit loss model.  The methodology used to 

determine the amount of the provision is based on whether there has been a significant increase in 

credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For those where the credit risk has not 

increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month expected credit 

losses along with gross interest income are recognized.  For those for which credit risk has 

increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the gross interest income are 

recognized.  For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses 

along with interest income on a net basis are recognized. 

 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s receivable from customers and receivable from clearing 

house are shown and disclosed in Notes 7 and 8. 

 

The Company has assessed that there is no need to provide for any allowance for credit losses on 

its receivables as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 as the Company is following the T+3 settlement 

rule.  
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b) Estimated Useful Lives (EUL) of Property and Equipment 

 

The Company annually reviews the EUL of property and equipment based on the period over which 

the assets are expected to be available for use and updates if expectations differ from previous 

estimates due to physical wear and tear, and technical or commercial obsolescence. It is possible 

that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought 

about by changes in the factors mentioned.  

 

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are disclosed in Note 2 which showed no 

changes in 2023 and 2022. 

 

The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these 

factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property and equipment 

would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

 

The carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation of the Company’s property and equipment are 

disclosed in Note 10. 

 

c) Impairment on financial asset at FVOCI 

 

The Company determines that financial asset at FVOCI are impaired where there has been a 

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost.  This determination of what is 

significant or prolonged requires judgment.  The Company treats “significant” generally as 20% 

or more of the original cost of investment, and prolonged as greater than 12 months.  In making 

this judgment, the Company evaluates, among other factors, the normal volatility in price.   

 

In addition, impairment may be appropriate where there is evidence of deterioration in the financial 

health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and 

financing cash flows. 

 

No impairment loss has been recognized by the Company on its financial asset at FVOCI for the 

years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

 

The value of the Company’s financial asset at FVOCI are shown and disclosed in Note 6. 

 

d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 

 

The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the Company 

considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:  

 

• significant underperformance relative to the expected historical or projected future operating 

results; 

• significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall 

business; and 

• significant negative industry or economic trends; 

• permanent decline in fair value of the asset; 

• market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have increased during the 

period, and those increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in calculating the assets 

value in use and decrease the asset’s recoverable amount materially. 
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If any indicator exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 

recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. As of 

December 31, 2023 and 2022, none of these indicators exist on the Company’s property and 

equipment. 

 

e) Trading Rights 

 

Trading rights is reviewed and tested whenever there is indication of impairment and at least at 

each statement of financial position date.  

 

f) Deferred Income Tax Assets 

 

The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets as at the date of financial 

position and reduces deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that 

sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be 

utilized. The management assessment on the recognition of deferred income tax assets on 

deductible temporary differences is based on the level and timing of forecasted taxable income of 

the subsequent periods. This forecast is based on the Company’s past results and future 

expectations on revenues and expenses as well as future tax planning strategies. However, there is 

no assurance that the Company will generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part of the 

deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 

 

g) Present Value of Retirement Benefit Obligation 

 

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and the present value of the pension obligation are 

determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions 

that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the 

discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the 

complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is 

highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting 

date.   

  

The valuation results are based on the employee data as of valuation dates as provided by the 

Company.  The discount rate assumption is based on the PDEx (PDST-R2) benchmark market 

yields on government bonds as of the valuation dates (or latest available) considering the average 

years of remaining working life of the employees as the estimated term of the benefit obligation. 

 

h) Contingencies 

 

The Company currently has various legal claims. The estimate of the probable costs for the 

resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation with outside counsel handling the 

Company’s defense relating to these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results. The 

Company currently does not believe that these claims will have a material adverse effect on its 

financial position and results of operations. 
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4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

This account consists of: 

2023 2022

Cash in banks  ₱           112,230,598  ₱           170,128,389 

Temporary cash investments                  12,000,000                  12,000,000 

Cash on hand                                -                           20,000 

Petty cash                         20,000                           5,000 

 ₱           124,250,598 182,153,389
 

 

Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Temporary cash investments are made for 

varying periods of up to three months depending on the Company’s immediate cash requirements, and 

earn interest at the prevailing temporary cash investment rates. Interest income earned using the 

effective interest rate method from the account amounted to ₱762,858 and ₱200,141 in 2023 and 2022, 

respectively (see Note 23). 

 

In compliance with Revised Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 49.2 covering customer protection 

and custody of Securities, the Company maintains a special reserve bank account for the exclusive 

benefit of its customers. Reserve requirement is determined on a monthly basis using SEC prescribed 

computation. The bank account has a balance of ₱84,338,722 and ₱146,292,427 for the years 2023 and 

2022, respectively.   

 

The Company’s reserve account is adequate to cover its reserve requirement. 

 

 

5. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

 

2023 2022 

Equities in the PHISIX   ₱              1,914,755   ₱              1,091,019 

Equities outside the PHISIX                    8,461,555                    8,953,212 

  ₱            10,376,310   ₱            10,044,231 

The Company recognized (loss) gain on sale on financial assets at FVPL amounting to (₱20,329) for 

the year 2023 and ₱22,399 in 2022. This is presented under “Revenues” in the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income.  (see Note 19) 

 

Cash dividends declared and received on financial assets at FVPL amounting to ₱2,559,987 and 

₱2,731,188 for December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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6. Financial Assets at FVOCI 

 

Financial assets at FVOCI that consist of listed/unlisted equity shares which are measured at fair market 

value and at cost are as follows:  

 

No. of Market Investments at Investments Unrealized

December 31, 2023 Shares Value Market Value at Cost gain , net

Quoted equity shares

  measured at fair value

The Philippine Stock

  Exchange     240,000          170   ₱      40,800,000   ₱      2,520,000   ₱      28,710,000 

Unquoted proprietary

  share measured at cost

Tagaytay Highlands 

  Golf Club, Inc.                1             -      400,000    400,000                          -   

Total market value   ₱      41,200,000   ₱      2,920,000   ₱      28,710,000 

Year ended

 
 

Financial assets at FVOCI that consist of listed/unlisted equity shares which are measured at fair market 

value and at cost are as follows:  

 

No. of Market Investments at Investments Unrealized

December 31, 2022 Shares Value Market Value at Cost gain , net

Quoted equity shares

  measured at fair value

The Philippine Stock

  Exchange     240,000          158   ₱     37,920,000   ₱     2,520,000   ₱      26,550,000 

Unquoted proprietary 

  share measured at cost

Tagaytay Highlands Int'l.

  Golf Club, Inc.                1             -      400,000    400,000                          -   

Total market value   ₱     38,320,000   ₱     2,920,000   ₱      26,550,000 

Year ended

 
The unrealized fair value gain on financial assets at FVOCI amounting to ₱28,710,000 and ₱26,550,000 

were taken to equity in 2023 and 2022 net of related deferred tax liabilities amounting to ₱9,570,000 

and ₱8,850,000, respectively. (See Note 15) 

 

Roll-forward analysis of the change in value of financial assets at FVOCI: 

 

2023 2022 

Balance, January 1 38,320,000₱               ₱             52,000,000 

Unrealized fair value (loss) gain

on financial assets at FVOCI 2,880,000                                 (13,680,000)

41,200,000₱               ₱             38,320,000 
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7. Receivable from Customers  

 

These accounts include amounts due on cash transactions. The securities owned by customers are held 

as collateral for amounts receivable from customers, which are due within one year from the respective 

statements of financial position dates. Eligible collaterals are listed and traded shares in the PSE and 

lodged with the Philippine Depository and Trust Corporation (PDTC) under the account of the 

Company. 

 

The following tables show the aging analysis of the Company’s receivable from customers and non-

customers: 

 

Counterparty 

Collateral exposure

(net of haircut) after collateral

T to T+1 of counterparty   ₱   339,984,744   ₱    (339,454,187) - ₱                      ₱           530,557 

T+2 to T+12 of  counterparty                           -                             - -                                                -   

T+13 to T+30 of  counterparty                  26,411                  (26,338) -                                               73 

Beyond T+13 of counterparty -                                                -   

  ₱   340,011,155   ₱    (339,480,525) - ₱                      ₱           530,630 

2023
Allowance for 

expected credit 

losses

Net receivables 

from customers

 
 

 

Counterparty 

Collateral exposure Net receivables

(net of haircut) after collateral from customers

T to T+2 of counterparty   ₱     248,215,125   ₱    (241,183,147) - ₱                      ₱       7,031,978 

T+3 to T+13 of  counterparty                             -                              - -                                                  - 

Beyond T+13 of counterparty                 223,783                (223,762) -                                                21 

  ₱     248,438,908   ₱    (241,406,909) - ₱                      ₱       7,031,999 

2022
Allowance for 

expected credit 

losses

 
 

Receivables as to collateral are as follows: 

 

Debit Market Value Debit Market Value

Balances of Securities Balances of Securities

Cash and fully secured accounts:

More than 250%  ₱        530,630  ₱     479,800,969  ₱     6,499,983  ₱     351,358,315 

Between 200% and 250%                      -                            -               532,016              1,162,700 

Between 100% and 150%                      -                            -                        -                            -   

Less than 100%                      -                            -                        -                            -   

Unsecured                      -                            -                        -                            -   

Less: Allowance for 

expected credit losses                      -                            -                        -                            -   

 ₱        530,630  ₱     479,800,969  ₱     7,031,999  ₱     352,521,015 

2023 2022

 
The fair value of these short-term financial assets was not individually determined as the carrying 

amounts are reasonable approximation of fair values. 
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Trade receivables from margin customers have no specific credit terms but customers are required to 

maintain the value of their collateral within a specific level.  Once the value of the collateral falls down 

this level, customers may either deposit additional collateral or sell stocks to cover the deficiency in 

their account balance. Meanwhile, receivables from post-paid customers are required to be settled on 

three (3) trading days’ term.   

 

The trade receivables balances become demandable upon failure of the customer to duly comply with 

these requirements.  As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, trade receivables from customers are fully 

covered by collateral, hence very minimal allowance for credit losses is provided.   

 

 

8. Receivable from Clearing House  

  

Receivables from clearing house represents the net amount receivable on the sales and purchases of 

securities made on the trading floor of the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. with the banks and payments 

must be received after two (2) days from the consummation of the transactions.  

 

The Company’s receivables from clearing house amounted to ₱7,498,299 and nil in 2023 and 2022, 

respectively. 

 

These are noninterest-bearing and are collected on three (3) trading days’ term following the settlement 

convention of Philippines clearing house. 

 

 

9. Prepayments and Other Current Assets 

 

This account consists of the following: 

2023 2022

Receivable from BIR  ₱                  399,859  ₱                  475,429 

Deferred charges - MCIT                       227,726                       274,769 

Loans and advances (Note 27)                       253,000                       216,100 

Prepaid expenses                       220,601                       172,472 

Utility deposits                         39,248                         37,680 

Input tax                         62,836                         15,030 

Other current assets                           5,000                           5,000 

Other receivable                           3,922                       257,961 

 ₱               1,212,192  ₱               1,454,441 
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10. Property and Equipment 

 

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization at the beginning and end 

of December 31, 2023 are shown below. 

 

 Office Furniture 

Condominium  Transportation  Fixtures and 

Unit  Equipment  Equipment  Total 

Cost

At beginning of year  ₱       26,345,736  ₱           3,274,590  ₱          8,507,856  ₱       38,128,182 

Acquisition                          -                              -                             -                             -   

At end of year            26,345,736               3,274,590               8,507,856            38,128,182 

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year              8,489,691               3,274,590               8,321,858            20,086,139 

Depreciation                 658,643                            -                      10,580                 669,223 

At end of year              9,148,334               3,274,590               8,332,438            20,755,362 

Net book value

as at December 31, 2023  ₱       17,197,402  ₱                        -    ₱             175,418  ₱       17,372,820 
 

 

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization at the beginning and end 

of December 31, 2022 are shown below. 

 

 Office Furniture 

Condominium  Transportation  Fixtures and 

Unit  Equipment  Equipment  Total 

Cost

At beginning of year  ₱         26,345,736  ₱           3,274,590  ₱           8,496,963  ₱        38,117,289 

Acquisition                            -                              -                       10,893                   10,893 

At end of year              26,345,736                3,274,590                8,507,856            38,128,182 

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year                7,831,048                3,274,590                8,300,324            19,405,962 

Depreciation                   658,643                            -                       21,534                 680,177 

At end of year                8,489,691                3,274,590                8,321,858            20,086,139 

Net book value

as at December 31, 2022  ₱         17,856,045  ₱                        -    ₱              185,998  ₱        18,042,043 

 
 

Fully depreciated assets still in use amounted to ₱3,624,153 in 2023 and 2022. 

 

 

11. Trading Rights 

 

Under the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) rules, all exchange membership seats are pledged at its 

full value to the PSE to secure the payment of all debts due to other members of the exchange arising 

out of or in connection with the present or future member’s contracts. The latest selling price of the 

membership stock exchange seat, as provided by the PSE amounts to ₱8 million as of December 31, 

2023 and 2022, respectively.  

 

In 2001, the demutualization or conversion of PSE into a stock corporation was approved by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) effective August 8, 2001. Each membership seat will be 

exchanged for shares of stock of PSE. In accordance with the conversion, PSE will issue 9.2 million 
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shares with a par value of ₱1 per share out of the members’ contribution of ₱286.6 million. Thus, each 

of the 184 members/brokers will subscribe to a total of 50,000 shares of stocks with a par value of ₱1 

per share. The balance of members’ contribution of ₱277.4 million will be treated as additional paid-

in surplus in the financial statements of PSE. 

 

In addition to the shares, each member will receive a Certificate of Trading Right to maintain their 

continued access to the trading floor of PSE. The Right can be assigned and transferred by the members. 

 

PSE, however, will not issue shares of stocks for the value of its donated assets. The donated assets 

consisting of two (2) pieces of real property located in Makati and Pasig City, where its trading floors 

are located, are subject to restrictions on their transferability. 

 

The effects of the conversion plan specifically on the separate valuation of the ownership of the 

exchange seat and the trading rights have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements. 

   

The Company received a 100% stock dividend recorded last September 26, 2008 and received on 

October 22, 2008, Certificate No. 00105.  

 

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying value of the trading rights amounted to ₱8,000,000, 

respectively. 

 

2023 2022

Cost  ₱               1,782,000  ₱               1,782,000 

Revaluation surplus (Note 19)                    6,218,000                    6,218,000 

Market value  ₱               8,000,000  ₱               8,000,000 
 

 

The revaluation surplus amounting to ₱6,218,000 were taken to equity in 2023 and 2022 net of related 

deferred tax liabilities amounting to ₱1,554,500 in 2023 and 2022. 

 

 

12. Payable to Customers 

 

This account consists of: 

Money balance  Security valuation  Money balance Security valuation

With money balance            89,450,096  ₱           907,613,216          138,990,684  ₱        1,000,022,119 

No money balance             3,244,767,337            3,405,825,298 

 ₱       89,450,096  ₱        4,152,380,553  ₱     138,990,684  ₱        4,405,847,417 

2023 2022

 
 

 

13. Payable to Clearing House 

 

Payable to clearing organization represents the net amount payable on the sales and purchases of 

securities made on the trading floor of the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. with the banks and payments 

must be received after two (2) days from the consummation of the transactions.  

 

The Company’s payable to clearing organization amounted to nil and ₱4,409,138 as at December 31, 

2023 and 2022, respectively.   
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The Company’s payable to clearing organization is due within one year from the respective statement 

of financial position dates.  

 

14. Accrued Expense and Other Current Liabilities 

 

This consists of the following: 

      

                           2023                            2022 

Dividends payable  ₱               2,303,415  ₱                2,987,114 

Due to BIR                       257,369                       130,295 

Accrued expenses                       169,257                       132,256 

Subscription payable

Others                         67,270                         68,715 

 ₱               2,797,311  ₱                3,318,380 

 
 

15. Deferred Tax Liabilities - Net 

 

Details of the Deferred Tax Liabilities (net): 

 

2023 2022

Retirement benefits obligation (net of OCI) (Note 22)  ₱              3,456,029  ₱              3,132,013 

Actuarial loss - defined benefits obligation (OCI) (Note 22)                      306,367                      431,434 

Net operating loss carry over (NOLCO)                 11,558,697                   5,787,331 

 ₱            15,321,093  ₱              9,350,778 

Unrealiazed fair value gain on financial assets at FVOCI (Note 6)  ₱            38,280,000                 35,400,000 

Revaluation surplus (Note 18)                   6,218,000                   6,218,000 

Unrealized fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL                      684,756                      115,370 

 ₱            45,182,756  ₱            41,733,370 

Net  ₱          (29,861,663)  ₱           (32,382,592)

Tax rate 25% 25%

 ₱            (7,465,416)  ₱             (8,095,648)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilty
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The movements in the deferred income tax account in 2023 are summarized as follows: 

 

At January 1 At December 31

 ₱                  783,003  ₱              81,004  ₱                            -    ₱              864,007 

                      (28,843)               (142,347)                                -                  (171,190)

                      107,859                           -                         (31,267)                    76,592 

                   1,446,833              1,442,842                                -   2,889,675             

                 (8,850,000)                           -                       (720,000) (9,570,000)            

                 (1,554,500)                           -                                  -   (1,554,500)            

Total  ₱              (8,095,648)  ₱         1,381,500  ₱                 (751,267) (7,465,416)₱          

Unrealized gain on financial 

assets at FVOCI

Revaluation surplus

Charged to profit 

or loss

Charged to other 

comprehensive 

income

Retirement benefits 

obligation (net of OCI) 

Unrealized fair value loss on 

financial assets at FVPL

Actuarial loss (gain) - 

defined benefit obligation 

(OCI)

Net operating loss carry over 

(NOLCO)

 
 

 

The movements in the deferred income tax account in 2022 are summarized as follows: 

 

Charged Charged to other Charged

At January 1 to profit comprehensive to Changes At December 31

and loss income in Equity

(net of OCI)  ₱        722,760  ₱        60,243  ₱                    -    ₱                   -   

        2,649,466     (2,678,309)                        -                          -   

           171,008                    -                 (63,149)                        -   

        1,712,318        (265,485)                        -                          -   

    (12,270,000)                    -              3,420,000                        -   

      (1,679,500)                    -                          -                125,000 

Total  ₱   (8,693,948)  ₱ (2,883,551)  ₱       3,356,851  ₱          125,000  ₱        (8,095,648)

 ₱            783,003 

                (28,843)

                107,859 

             1,446,833 

           (8,850,000)

           (1,554,500)

Retirement benefits 

obligation

Unrealized fair value loss 

on financial assets at FVPL

Actuarial loss (gain) - 

defined benefit obligation 

(OCI)
Net operating loss carry 

over (NOLCO)

Unrealized gain on 

financial assets at FVOCI

Revaluation surplus
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The details of NOLCO and its corresponding deferred tax asset as of December 31 are as follows: 

 

Deferred Deferred

Year of Year of NOLCO tax asset NOLCO tax asset

 Incurrence Expiration 2023 2023 2022 2022

2019 2022          4,604,863          1,151,216 

2020 2025          2,244,409              561,102          2,244,409             561,102 

2022 2025          3,542,922              885,731          3,542,922             885,731 

2023 2026          5,771,366           1,442,842 

Total  ₱    11,558,697  ₱       2,889,674  ₱   10,392,194  ₱     2,598,049 

Utilization                       -                          -   

Expired NOLCO                       -                          -            4,604,863          1,151,216 

Remaining NOLCO/ 

     Deferred tax asset  ₱    11,558,697  ₱       2,889,674  ₱     5,787,331  ₱     1,446,833 

 
 

16. Share Capital 

 

This account consists of: 

 

2023 2022 2023 2022

Common stock - P100 par value

Authorized               800,000               800,000  ₱     80,000,000  ₱     80,000,000 

Issued and outstanding               560,000               560,000  ₱     56,000,000  ₱     56,000,000 

                     Amount                      Shares

The Company has seven (7) shareholders each owning 100 shares or more of the Company’s capital 

stock as at the date of statement of financial position. 

 

Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per share at 

general meetings of the Company. 

 

 

17. Retained Earnings 

 

Unappropriated 

2023 2022 

At January 1

As previously reported  ₱              10,555,047  ₱              16,586,490 

Prior period error                                 -                                   -   

As restated                  10,555,047                  16,586,490 

Dividends                   (1,188,000)

Net loss for the year                   (1,956,976)                   (4,843,443)

 ₱                8,598,071  ₱              10,555,047 
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Appropriated for Reserve Fund 

Under Securities Regulation Code No.49.1 (B), Reserve Fund of such circular requires that every 

broker dealer shall annually appropriate a certain minimum percentage of its audited profit after tax 

and transfer the same to Appropriated Retained Earnings. Minimum appropriation shall be 30%, 20% 

and 10% of profit after tax for broker dealers with unimpaired paid up capital between ₱10.0 million 

to ₱30.0 million, between ₱30.0 million to ₱50.0 million and more than ₱50.0 million respectively. 

 

No appropriation of retained earnings was made in 2023 and 2022 since the Company had incurred net 

loss from its operations. 

 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the appropriated retained earnings amounted to ₱9,223,834.  

 

Dividends 

 

The Board of Directors approved and declared cash dividend of ₱1,188,000 to stockholders as of 

record date June 22, 2022 with payment date on June 30, 2022. 

 

Other Comprehensive Income accumulated in Reserves, Net of Tax 

 

Fair value surplus Retained earnings

Financial assets at FVOCI

net gain in fair value  ₱               2,160,000  ₱                            -   

Actuarial gain - defined benefit obligation                                -                           93,800 

 ₱               2,160,000  ₱                    93,800 

Financial assets at FVOCI

net gain in fair value  ₱             10,260,000  ₱                            -   

Actuarial gain - defined benefit obligation                                -                         189,448 

 ₱             10,260,000  ₱                  189,448 

2023

2022

 
 

 

18. Revaluation Surplus 

 

Revaluation surplus relates to the excess of fair value of the trading rights over that of the carrying 

amount of the rights revalued. As at December 31, 2023 and 2022 the Company’s revaluation surplus 

amounted to ₱4,663,500 (net of tax).  

 

Fair Value Surplus 

The fair value surplus comprises of the cumulative net change in fair value of intangible assets until 

the assets are derecognized or impaired. 
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19. Revenues and Other Income 

 

This account consists of: 

2023 2022
Revenues

Commissions  ₱               6,505,002  ₱               8,847,372 

Other income

Dividend income (Notes 5 and 7)                    2,559,987                    2,731,188 

Realized fair value (loss) gain 

on financial assets at FVPL (Note 5)                       (20,329)                         22,399 

Miscellaneous income                                -                                  19 

assets at FVPL (Note 15)                       684,756                       115,370 

 ₱               9,729,416  ₱             11,716,348 

Unrealized fair value gain on financial 

 
 

 

20. Cost of Services 

 

This account consists of: 

2023 2022 

Commissions   ₱              1,707,801   ₱              2,698,501 

Phil. Stock Exchange dues and fees                       902,096                       526,858 

Phil. Central Depository fees 505,550 539,290

SCCP dues and fees                         35,995                         51,846 

  ₱              3,151,442   ₱              3,816,495 
 

 

 

21. Operating Expenses 

 

 This account consists of:  

2023 2022 

Salaries and employees benefits (Note 22)  ₱               5,194,906  ₱               5,114,082 

Depreciation (Note 10)                       669,224                       680,177 

Condominium dues                       726,744                       631,783 

Transportation                       409,021                       374,910 

Communications                       344,648                       343,659 

Taxes and licenses (Note 30)                       419,755                       311,363 

Rent expense                       240,000                       258,000 

Legal and audit fees                       281,849                       254,276 

Light and water                       267,954                       247,592 

Representation and entertainment                         20,000                       247,200 

Insurance                       461,660                       176,280 

Repairs and maintenance                       162,476                       129,984 

Office supplies                       108,446                       103,608 

Membership dues and fees                         51,000                         51,000 

Bank charges                         17,130                         12,325 

Miscellaneous                         53,800                         59,656 

 ₱               9,428,613  ₱               8,995,895 
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Miscellaneous expenses include expenses of personnel like meals, medicines, call cards and other basic 

allowances incurred by employees. 

 

 

22. Salaries and Employees Benefits 

 

This account consists of the following: 

 

2023 2022

Salaries, wages and bonuses   ₱              4,641,958   ₱              4,660,632 

Retirement benefits expense 324,016 240,971

SSS/Medicare and ECC Premium 180,625 163,607

Philhealth insurance 37,707 38,072

Pag-ibig fund 10,600 10,800

  ₱              5,194,906   ₱              5,114,082 
 

 

Employees Benefits 

 

The Company does not have an established formal retirement plan and only conforms to the minimum 

regulatory benefit under the Retirement Pay Law (Republic Act No. 7641) which is of the defined 

benefit type and provides a retirement benefits equal to 22.5 days pay for every year of credited service.  

The regulatory benefit is paid in a lump sum upon retirement. 

 

There are no unusual or significant risks to which the retirement benefits obligation exposes the 

Company.  However, it should be noted that in the event a benefit claim arises under the retirement 

benefits obligation, the benefit shall immediately be due and payable from the Company. 

There was no plan amendment, curtailment or settlement recognized for the years ended December 

31, 2023 and 2022. 

 

The principal assumptions used in determining pensions for the Company were as follows: 

 

2023 2022 

Discount rate 6.45% 7.59% 

Salary increase rate 3.00% 3.00% 
 

 

The movement in the present value of defined benefits obligation is summarized as follows: 

 

2023 2022 

Defined benefits obligation, beginning  ₱               3,563,447  ₱               3,575,073 

Interest expense                       270,466                       183,401 

Current service cost                         53,550                         57,570 

Actuarial (gain) loss - changes in financial assumptions                         81,947                     (211,834)

Actuarial (gain) loss - experience                     (207,014)                       (40,763)

Defined benefits obligation, ending  ₱               3,762,396  ₱               3,563,447 
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The plan status is as follows: 

 

2023 2022 

Defined benefits obligation, ending 3,762,396 ₱                 ₱              3,563,447 

Fair value of plan assets, ending -                                                            -   

Funded status - deficit 3,762,396 ₱                 ₱              3,563,447 
 

 

Net defined benefit liability recognized in the statement of financial position is as follows: 

 

2023 2022 

Defined benefits obligation, ending  ₱               3,762,396  ₱               3,563,447 

Fair value of plan assets, ending                                -                                  -   

Funded status - deficit                    3,762,396                    3,563,447 

Effect of the asset ceiling                                -                                  -   

Net defined benefit liability  ₱               3,762,396  ₱               3,563,447 
 

 

Defined benefit cost recognized in profit or loss: 

 

2023 2022 

Current service cost  ₱                    53,550  ₱                    57,570 

Interest expense in DBO                       270,466                       183,401 

Defined benefit cost  ₱                  324,016  ₱                  240,971 
 

 

Defined benefit cost recognized in other comprehensive income: 

2023 2022 

431,434 ₱                    ₱                 684,031 
Actuarial (gains) losses - DBO (125,067)                                        (252,597)
Remeasurement (gain) losses - plan assets -                                                            -   
Remeasurement (gain) loss - changes 

in the effect of the asset ceiling -                                                            -   
Defined benefit cost in OCI - Expense (125,067)                                        (252,597)

Accumulated other comprehensive income, ending* 306,367 ₱                    ₱                 431,434 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning

 
 

*The amounts shown in the statements of changes in equity were net of income tax effect on actuarial 

loss. Total accumulated actuarial losses on employees’ benefit obligation amounted to ₱229,775 and 

₱323,575 in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

 

Movement in net defined benefit liability is summarized below: 

 

2023 2022 

Beginning net defined benefit liability  ₱              3,563,447  ₱               3,575,073 

Defined benefit cost recognized in profit and loss                      324,016                      240,971 

Defined benefit cost recognized in OCI - expense                    (125,067)                    (252,597)

Accumulated other comprehensive income(loss), ending  ₱              3,762,396  ₱               3,563,447 
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Sensitivity analysis, year-end defined benefit obligation (DBO) 

 

 ₱      (72,428) ; (1.9%) (70,012)₱         ; (2.0%)

           81,185  ; 2.2% 78,549 ; 2.2%

           83,216  ; 2.2% 81,430 ; 2.3%

         (75,410)  ; (2.0%) 519,872 ; (2.1%)

         519,516 ; 13.8% 519,872 ; 14.6%

Decrease in DBO due to 100bps increase in 

salary increase rate

Increase in DBO, no attrition rates

2023 2022

Increase in DBO due to 100bps increase in 

salary increase rate

Decrease in DBO due to 100bps increase in 

discount rate

Increase in DBO due to 100bps increase in 

discount rate

 
 

The Company, Solar Securities, Inc., does not have a formal retirement plan and is therefore still 

unfunded.  The Company has no plan assets to match against the liabilities under the post-employment 

benefits. 

 

Weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation 

 

2023 2022 

Weighted average duration of the DBO (years)                               2.0                               2.1 
 

 

Expected payment of benefits 

 

2023 2022 

Financial year
 ₱               3,096,421  ₱               2,513,793 

                               -   562,348                     

2026-2030                       941,783                       911,507 

2023

2024

 
 

Statistical distribution of eligible members 

 

Male Female

Number of lives covered 4                                5                                

Average age in years 51.7                           45.1                           

Average years of past service 20.8                           16.6                           

 
 

23. Finance Income 

 

This account consists of: 

2023 2022 

Interest income (Note 4) 762,858₱                    ₱                  200,141 
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24. Loss per Share 

 

The computation of basic loss per share is computed as follows: 

2023 2022 

Net loss  ₱               1,956,976  ₱               4,843,443 

Divided by  number of shares outstanding                       560,000                       560,000 

Basic loss per share  ₱                        3.49  ₱                        8.65 

There were no potential dilutive shares in 2023 and 2022. 

 

 

25. Provision for Income Tax  

 

Provision for income tax expense consists of the following: 

2023 2022

Current 

Corporate income tax  ₱                              -    ₱                              -   

Final tax on interest income                        157,745                          29,759 

Deferred                       (288,550)  ₱                 3,917,783 

Provision for income tax  

reported in the  profit or loss  ₱                  (130,805)  ₱                 3,947,542 

 
 

2023 2022

Net unrealized (gain) loss on financial assets at FVOCI  ₱                  (720,000)  ₱                 3,420,000 

Actuarial losses - DBO                         (31,267)                         (63,149)

Income tax expense reported in OCI  ₱                  (751,267)  ₱                 3,356,851 
 

 

The deferred portion as shown in the income tax expense (benefit) reported in the profit or loss consists 

of the following: 

2023 2022 

Deferred 

Retirement expense  ₱                   (81,004)  ₱                     (2,906)

Unrealized fair value gain on FAFVPL                    1,112,682                    3,568,344 

NOLCO for the year                  (1,442,842)                     (885,731)

Expired NOLCO                                -                      1,151,215 

Expired MCIT                       122,614                         86,861 

 ₱                 (288,550)  ₱               3,917,783 
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A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) computed at the statutory income tax rate to the actual 

income tax reflected in the statements of profit of loss and other comprehensive income at December 

31 is as follows: 

 

2023 2022 

Income tax at statutory rate of 25% (521,945)₱                  ₱                 (223,975)

Deduct reconciling item

Nondeductible expenses                    1,221,852                    4,904,354 

Utilized NOLCO -                                                            -   

Income subject to final tax (190,715)                                          (50,035)

Income not subject to tax (639,997)                                        (682,802)

(130,805)₱                  ₱               3,947,542 

 
 

Revenue Regulation No. 10-2002 defines expenses to be classified as entertainment, amusement and 

recreation (EAR) expenses and sets a limit for the amount that is deductible for tax purposes, at 1% of 

net revenues for sellers of services.  

 

 

26. Related Party Transactions 

 

Enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are 

controlled by, or are under common control with the Company, including holding companies, subsidiaries 

and fellow subsidiaries are related entities of the Company.  Key management personnel, including 

directors and officers of the Company and close members of the family of these individuals and companies 

associated with these individuals also constitute related entities.  

 

Transactions between related parties are accounted for on the same terms as with other individuals and 

businesses of comparable risk.  In considering each possible related entity relationship, attention is directed 

to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.  

 

Significant transactions carried out with related parties follow: 

 

Related Party

Nature of 

Transaction
Terms 2023 2022 2023 2022

Advances to

Officers and 

employees

Non - interest 

advances

Unsecured, unimpaired and 

will be settled in cash and 

no fixed terms of payment

  ₱  36,900   ₱  (34,120)   ₱   253,000   ₱   216,100 

         ended  December 31                      December 31

Outstanding balances as of Transactions for the years 

 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

 

The Company considered as key management personnel all employees holding managerial positions 

up to the president. Key management personnel compensation amounted to ₱1,000,000 for 2023 and 

2022. 
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The Company is not covered by the requirements and procedures for related party transactions provided 

under Revenue Regulation No. 34-2020. 

 

27. Contingencies 

In 2000, the SEC filed a case against 50 individuals, brokers and investment houses for alleged 

violations of the Revised Securities Act and certain rules of the PSE, because of their involvement in 

the trading of the shares of stock of Best World Resources Corporation (BW).  The Department of 

Justice (DOJ) in a resolution dated December 18, 2000, has dismissed for lack of evidence the case 

against some individuals, brokers and investment houses, including the Company.   

On February 24, 2001, however, the SEC refiled with the DOJ the third version of the charge sheet 

against 100 individuals and stockbrokers and other parties for preliminary investigation. 

On a resolution dated March 8, 2002, the DOJ modified its December 18, 2000 resolution and 

recommended that certain respondents, including the Company, be charged in court.  To date, the case 

is now undergoing trial before the Regional Trial Court of Pasig City.  Management and its legal 

counsel, however, believe that all its transactions are legitimate, above board, and consistent with 

existing rules and regulations 

On a resolution dated January 2007, the DOJ has resolved with a recommendation, final and executory 

to hold respondents for trial for alleged violations of the Revised Securities Act and the Securities 

Regulation Code. Management and its legal counsel, however, believe that respondents will finally be 

exonerated and acquitted. In the early part of 2008, an officer of the Company is a party litigant in a 

criminal case at the pre-trial stage.  

As of December 31, 2023, the officer of the Company has been found guilty beyond reasonable doubt 

by the Regional Trial Court (RTC). The case is on appeal with the Court of Appeals.  

 

 

28. Financial Risk and Capital Risk Managements  

 

Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks which result from both its operating 

and investing activities.  The Company’s overall risk management program seeks to minimize potential 

adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. The policies for managing specific risks 

are summarized below. 

 

Market / Price risk  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market risk such as, but not limited to, equity risk or the risk that the stock prices 

will change; interest rate risk or the risk that interest rates will change; currency risk or the risk that 

foreign currency will change; equity index risk or the risk that stock and other index prices will change. 

 

Interest rate risk 

The Company has no significant exposure to changes in market interest rates.  

 

Equity price risk 

The Company is exposed to equity price risk arising from financial assets at FVPL and financial assets 

at FVOCI which consists of investments in Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) shares. 
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The following table shows the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Philippine Stock 

Exchange Index (PSEi) taking into consideration the adjusted risk measurement of each individual 

stock in the Company’s financial assets held for trading as of December 31: 

 

2023 2022 

Change in PSEi -30.51% -47.66%

Change in trading income at equity portfolio under:

Electricity, energy, power and water  ₱                 (154,465)  ₱                    16,822 

Property 19,949 6,081

Transportation service                         (3,814)                           3,436 

Oil                              245                                -   

Hotel                       (18,614)                                -   

Telecommunications                                -                                  -   

Other services                            (952)                            (357)

Financial institutions                              (92)                            (858)

Casinos and gaming                       (35,701)                            (953)

Electrical components                              610                         (1,430)

Retail                         (4,150)                         (2,478)

Holding firms                         (3,530)                         (5,242)

Food, beverage and tobacco                       (12,322)                         (6,515)

Small and medium enterprise                              229                         (7,863)

Mining                           7,607                       (14,276)

Information technology                         (3,296)

Banks                           1,618                       (41,440)

Delisted companies                                91 

 ₱                 (206,678)  ₱                   (54,982)

The assumed change in rate is based on the average change in the year-end PSEi for five (5) years.  

There is no other impact on the Company’s equity other than those already affecting profit or loss. 

 

The financial assets at FVOCI are revalued on each reporting period end based on quoted market prices. 

Any resulting fair value gains or losses arising from the revaluation of the financial assets at FVOCI 

are recognized directly in the statement of other comprehensive income. Financial assets at FVOCI 

that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably 

measured are measured at cost less any impairment losses at end of each reporting period. 

 

Number of Shares Held Price per Share

2023 240,000               170₱                    
2022 240,000               158                      

 
 

As of December 31, 2023, if the PSE shares price strengthens by 8% with all other variable held 

constant, unrealized gain on AFS investment recognized in equity after deferred tax would increase by 

₱2,160,000.     

 

As of December 31, 2022, if the PSE shares price weakens by 27% with all other variable held constant, 

unrealized gain on AFS investment recognized in equity after deferred tax would increase by 

₱2,720,093.  

 

The price fluctuation assumed in the sensitivity analysis represents the defined shift used by the 

Company to manage its equity price risk.  The shift in percentage from (27%) to 40% to is brought 

about by the totality in PSE shares. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting from 

financial loss to the Company. The Company is exposed to this risk for various financial instruments, 

for example by granting loans and receivables to customers, placing deposits and investments. 

 

Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the financial 

assets as shown on the statement of financial position (or in the detailed analysis provided in the notes 

to the financial statements) as summarized below. 

 

2023 2022 

Cash and cash equivalents  ₱           124,230,598  ₱           182,128,389 

Financial assets at FVPL                  10,376,310                  10,044,231 

Financial assets at FVOCI                  41,200,000                  38,320,000 

Receivables from:

Customers                       530,630                    7,031,999 

Clearing House                    7,498,299                                -   

 ₱           183,835,837  ₱           237,524,619 
 

 

The Company continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified either 

individually or by group, and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. The Company’s 

policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties.  

 

The table below shows the credit quality by class of investments, gross of allowance for credit losses 

as of December 31, 2023: 

 
 Past Due 

But 
Class A Class B Class C  Not  Total 

Cash and cash

equivalents  ₱         124,230,598  ₱            -    ₱            -    ₱            -    ₱         124,230,598 

Financial assets

at FVPL 10,376,310                -                  -                   -                 10,376,310 

Financial assets

at FVOCI 41,200,000                -                  -                  -                  41,200,000 

Receivables from:

Customers 530,630                -                  -                  -                       530,630 

Clearing house 7,498,299                 -                 -                 -                  7,498,299 

 ₱         183,835,837  ₱            -    ₱            -    ₱            -    ₱         183,835,837 

Neither Past Due Nor Impaired
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The table below shows the credit quality by class of investments, gross of allowance for credit losses 

as of December 31, 2022: 

 

Past Due But

Class A Class B Class C Not Impaired  Total 

Cash and cash

equivalents  ₱         182,128,389  ₱            -    ₱            -    ₱               -    ₱      182,128,389 

Financial assets

at FVPL 10,044,231                -                  -                   -              10,044,231 

Financial assets

at FVOCI 38,320,000                -                  -                     -               38,320,000 

Receivables from:

Customers 7,031,999                -                  -                     -                 7,031,999 

 ₱         237,524,619  ₱            -    ₱            -    ₱               -    ₱      237,524,619 

Neither Past Due Nor Impaired

  
Credit Quality - In monitoring and controlling credit extended to counterparty, the Company adopts a 

comprehensive credit rating system based on financial and non-financial assessments of its borrowers.  

Financial factors being considered comprised of the financial standing of the borrower while the non-

financial aspects include but not limited to the assessment of the borrower’s nature of business, industry 

background, payment habit and both present and potential business dealings with the Company. 

 

Class A “High Grade” are accounts with strong financial capacity and business performance and with 

the lowest default risk. 

 

Class B “Moderate Grade” refer to accounts of satisfactory financial capability and credit standing but 

with some elements of risk where certain measure of control is necessary in order to mitigate risk of 

default. 

 

Class C “Low Grade” refer to accounts which are collected on their due dates provided that the 

Company made a persistent effort to collect them. 

 

For the determination of credit risk, cash included in the analysis above do not include cash on hand 

amounting to ₱20,000 and ₱25,000 for the year 2023 and 2022.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

These are deposited in top ten banks in the Philippines, hence, considered high grade. 

 

Financial assets at FVPL 

High grade – Companies that are consistently profitable, have strong fundamentals and pays out 

dividends. As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s financial assets at FVPL are classified 

as high grade since these are with listed companies of good reputation. 

 

Financial assets at FVOCI 

Unquoted financial assets at FVOCI are unrated, while quoted financial assets at FVOCI are assessed 

as high grade based on financial status of the counterparty and its current stock price performance in 

the market. 

 

Receivables 

Receivables from customers and non-customers are secured (for fully and partially secured) by shares 

of stock owned by the customers and non-customers but held by the Company. These are assessed to 

be of low credit risk due to its underlying collateral securities. Receivables from clearing house is 

guaranteed to be settled following T+3 policy. 
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In respect of receivables from customers, non-customers, clearing house and others, the Company is 

not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 

counterparties having similar characteristics. 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is generally defined as the current and prospective risk to earnings or capital arising from 

the Company’s inability to meet its obligations when they come due without recurring unacceptable 

losses or costs. 

 

In the management of liquidity, the Company monitors and maintains a level of cash deemed adequate 

by the management to finance the Company’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash 

flows. 

 

The liability to customers and/or clearing house is matched by a corresponding receivable from 

customers/clearing house. Liquidity risk would arise if all loans and receivables are not settled in the 

usual T+3 settlement period. 

 

As at December 31, 2023, the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities which are 

presented below: 

 

Non-current

     Within 6 to 12 1 to 5

       6 months months years Total

Payable to

Customers  ₱         89,450,096  ₱                 -    ₱              -    ₱       89,450,096 

Other current liabilities            2,370,685                     -                     -             2,370,685

 ₱         89,450,096  ₱                 -    ₱              -    ₱       89,450,096 

Current

 
 

As at December 31, 2022, the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities which are 

presented below: 

 

Non-current

Within 6 to 12 1 to 5

6 months months years Total

Payable to

Customers  ₱     138,990,684  ₱                 -    ₱              -    ₱     138,990,684 

Other current liabilities            3,055,830                     -                     -              3,055,830

 ₱     138,990,684  ₱                 -    ₱              -    ₱     138,990,684 

Current

 
The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the carrying values 

of the financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period. 

 

Capital Management 

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 

capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the 

business.  The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Company defines as net 

operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. 

 

The Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) issued a memo 2009-0316 regarding rules governing trading 

rights and trading participants. 1) Trading participants shall have a minimum unimpaired paid-up 
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capital, as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) of Twenty Million Pesos 

(₱20,000,000) effective December 31, 2009; Provided further, that effective December 31, 2010 and 

onwards, the minimum unimpaired paid-up capital shall be Thirty Million Pesos (₱30,000,000). Each 

trading participant shall pledge its trading right to the extent of its full value to secure the payment of 

all debts and claims due the clients of the trading participant, the government, the Exchange and to 

other trading participants of the Exchange and to the Securities Clearing Corporation of the Philippines. 

Such indebtedness to the Exchange, SCCP and other Trading Participants, shall always, and in every 

case, be a prior, preferred lien upon the value, or the proceeds of sale of the trading rights. 

 

Minimum capital management 

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) passed the Amended Implementing Rules and 

Regulations of SEC that took effect on February 28, 2004 which provide among others, revisions in 

the terms and conditions for registration and subsequent renewal of license applicable to both exchange 

trading participants and non-exchange broker dealers as follows: 

 

a) To allow a net capital of P2.5 million or 2.5% Aggregate Indebtedness (AI), whichever is higher 

for broker dealers dealing only in proprietary shares and not holding securities; 

b) To allow the SEC to set a different net capital required for those authorized to use the Risk-Based 

Capital Adequacy (RBCA) model; 

c) To require unimpaired paid-up capital of ₱100.00 million for broker dealers, which are either first 

time registrants or those acquiring existing broker dealer firms and will participate in a registered 

clearing agency; ₱10.00 million plus a surety bond for existing broker dealers not engaged in 

market-making transactions; and ₱2.50 million for broker dealers dealing only in proprietary shares 

and not holding securities. 

 

The Company is required to comply with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 16 on the Adoption of the 

Risk-Based Capital Adequacy Requirement/Ratio (RBCA) for Brokers Dealers. This rule was 

published on November 13, 2004 by the Securities and Exchange Commission which took effect 15 

days after its publication on November 29, 2004. 

 

Under the pertinent provision of the Circular, it provides that every broker dealer shall ensure that its 

RBCA Ratio is greater than or equal to 1:1; the Core Equity must always be greater than the Operational 

Risk Requirement and that the broker dealer should maintain a Net Liquid Capital (NLC) of at least 

Five Million Pesos (₱5,000,000) or five percent (5%) of the Aggregate Indebtedness (AI) whichever is 

higher.  Moreover, no broker dealer shall allow its aggregate indebtedness to all other persons to exceed 

2,000 percent of its NLC.  If the minimum RBCA Ratio and NLC are breached, every broker dealer 

shall immediately cease doing business and shall notify the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

 

The RBCA Requirement/Ratio pertains to minimal level of capital that are required to be maintained 

by licensed firms, considering the firm size, complexity and business risks such as operational risks, 

position, counterparty, large exposure, underwriting and margin financing risks. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

SOLAR SECURITIES, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

              54 

 

  

The Company is in compliance with RBCA ratio, AI to NLC and NLC requirements as of December 

31, 2023 and 2022 as shown below: 

 

2023 2022 

Equity eligible for net liquid capital 106,965,630₱            ₱           106,668,806 

Less:  ineligible assets 76,278,787                                72,817,680 

Net Liquid Capital 30,686,843                                33,851,126 

Operational risk 2,680,827                                    2,596,917 

Position risk 3,440,233                                    3,406,379 

Total Risk Capital Requirement 6,121,060                                    6,003,296 

Aggregate Indebtedness 92,179,529₱              ₱           147,943,955 

5% of Aggregate Indebtedness 4,608,976₱                ₱               7,397,198 

Required Net Liquid Capital 5,000,000                                    5,000,000 

Net Risk-Based Capital Excess 25,686,843                                28,851,126 

Ratio of Aggregate Indebtedness to Net Liquid Capital 300% 437%

Risk Based Capital Adequacy Ratio 501% 564%

Ineligible asset 

This pertains to fixed assets and assets which cannot be readily converted into cash. 

 

Operational risk 

It is the exposure that is associated with commencing and remaining in business arising separately from 

exposures covered by other risk requirements. It is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 

internal processes, people and system which include, among others, risk of fraud, operational or 

settlement failure and shortage of liquid resources, or from external events. 

 

Below is the manual computation of operational risk requirement for December 31, 2023: 

 

Revenue 2022 2021 2020  AVERAGE 

Commission income  ₱    8,847,372  ₱  14,785,613  ₱    9,637,230  ₱  11,090,072 

Interest income            200,141            137,418            343,098            226,886 

Net recovery on market                     -   

  decline of financial assets at FVPL                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Dividend income         2,731,188         1,979,920            209,610         1,640,239 

Gain on sale of financial assets at FVPL              22,399         1,030,146            288,245            446,930 

Others                     19                     -                       -                         6 

 ₱  11,801,119  ₱  17,933,097  ₱  10,478,183  ₱  13,404,133 

Average of the Last Three Years Gross Income  ₱  13,404,133 

Multiplied by: Operational Risk Factor 20%

Total Operational Risk Requirement  ₱    2,680,827 
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Below is the manual computation of operational risk requirement for December 31, 2022: 

 

Revenue 2021 2020 2019  AVERAGE 

Commission income  ₱   14,785,613  ₱     9,637,230  ₱     7,731,043  ₱   10,717,962 

Interest income            137,418            343,098            458,167            312,894 

Net recovery on market 

  decline of financial assets at FVPL                      -                        -                        -                        -   

Dividend income         1,979,920            209,610         2,224,444         1,471,325 

Gain on sale of financial assets at FVPL         1,030,146            288,245            125,828            481,406 

Others                      -                        -                  3,000                1,000 

 ₱   17,933,097  ₱   10,478,183  ₱   10,542,482  ₱   12,984,587 

Average of the Last Three Years Gross Income  ₱   12,984,587 

Multiplied by: Operational Risk Factor 20%

Total Operational Risk Requirement  ₱     2,596,917 
 

 

Position risk 

The risk in which a Broker Dealer is exposed to and arising from securities held by it as principal or in 

its proprietary or dealer account. 

 

Below is the manual computation of position risk requirement as of December 31, 2023: 

Total Market Value Position Risk 2023

of Instrument Factors PRR

Equities in PHISIX  ₱               1,914,755 25.00%  ₱            478,689 

Other Equities outside the PHISIX                    8,461,555 35.00%             2,961,544 

Total  ₱             10,376,310 60.00%  ₱         3,440,233 
 

 

Below is the manual computation of position risk requirement as of December 31, 2022: 

 

Total Market Value Position Risk 2022

of Instrument Factors PRR

Equities in PHISIX 1,091,019₱                25.00% 272,755₱             
Other Equities outside the PHISIX 8,953,212                  35.00% 3,133,624            

Total 10,044,231₱              60.00% 3,406,379₱          
 

 

Aggregate Indebtedness 

 

This is the total money liabilities of a broker dealer arising in connection with any transaction 

whatsoever, and includes, among other things, money borrowed, money payable against securities 

loaned and securities that the broker dealer failed to receive, the market value of securities borrowed 

to the extent to which no equivalent value is paid or credited (other than the market value of margin 

securities borrowed from non-customers), customers and non-customers’ free credit balances, and 

credit balances in customers’ and non-customers’ account having short positions in securities, but 

subject to certain exclusions. 

 

The capital structure of the Company consists of equity attributable to equity holders comprising issued 

capital, reserves and retained earnings. 
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There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period. 

 

The Company’s regulated operations have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements, 

as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

 

 

29. Categories and Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of 

financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate such value: 

 

Financial Instruments Whose Carrying Amount Approximate Fair Value 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, unquoted equity securities, receivable from 

customers, payable to customers, payable to non-customers and payable to clearing house, which 

are all subject to normal trade credit terms and are short -term in nature, approximate their fair 

values. 

 

Financial Assets at FVPL and Financial Assets at FVOCI  

The Company’s financial assets at FVPL and quoted equity securities are carried at their fair 

values as at December 31, 2023 and 2022.  Fair value of financial assets at FVPL is based on the 

closing quoted prices of stock investments published by the PSE. 

 

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value 

at December 31, 2023.  

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Assets:

Financial assets at FVPL

Equities in the PHISIX  ₱           1,915  ₱                  -  ₱                  -  ₱          1,915 

Equities outside the PHISIX               8,462                       -                       -               8,462 

 ₱         10,377  ₱                  -  ₱                  -  ₱        10,377 
Financial assets at FVOCI

Quoted equity securities

Other financial institution sector             40,800                       -                       -             40,800 

 ₱         51,177  ₱                  -  ₱                  -  ₱        51,177 

(In Thousands)

Fair value measurement using

There are no financial instruments carried at fair value under Levels 2 and 3 during the year. 
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The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value 

at December 31, 2022.  

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Assets:

Financial assets at FVPL

Equities in the PHISIX 1,091₱           -₱                  -₱                  1,091₱           

Equities outside the PHISIX 8,953             -                     -                     8,953             

10,044₱         -₱                  -₱                  10,044₱         

Financial assets at FVOCI

Quoted equity securities

Other financial institution sector 37,920           -                     -                     37,920           

47,964₱         -₱                  -₱                  47,964₱         

(In Thousands)

Fair value measurement using

There are no financial instruments carried at fair value under Levels 2 and 3 during the year. 

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the Company’s financial statements in a recurring basis, 

the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-

assessing categorization (based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. There were no transfers that occurred 

between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

 

The Company’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring and 

nonrecurring fair value measurements. 

 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities 

on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 

hierarchy as explained above. 

 

Categories of Financial Instruments 

 

The carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial assets per category are as follows: 

 

Carrying Carrying 

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents *  ₱      124,231  ₱      124,231  ₱      182,128  ₱      182,128 

Financial assets at FVOCI                  400                  400                  400                  400 

Receivable from customers                  531                  531               7,032               7,032 

Receivable from clearing house               7,498               7,498                    -                      -   

 ₱      132,660  ₱      132,660  ₱      189,560  ₱      189,560 

* net of Cash on Hand and Petty Cash Fund

2023 2022

(In Thousands)
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The carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial liabilities per category are as follows: 

 

Carrying Carrying 

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Liabilities:

Payable to customers   ₱       89,450   ₱       89,450   ₱     138,991   ₱     138,991 

Payable to clearing organization                    -                      -                 4,409               4,409 

Other current liabilities               2,371               2,371               3,056               3,056 

  ₱       91,821   ₱       91,821   ₱     146,456   ₱     146,456 

2023 2022

(In Thousands)

 
 

 

30. Supplementary Information Required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue 

 

Revenue Regulation No. 15-2010 

 

On November 25, 2010, the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued Revenue Regulation (RR) No. 

15-2010 which took effect on December 29, 2010 which provides for additional information required 

to be disclosed in the notes to financial statements regarding taxes, duties and license fee, paid or 

accrued, during the taxable year. Specifically, the disclosure should include the following: (a) amount 

of Value-Added Tax (VAT) output taxes declared during the year with account title and amount/s; (b) 

amount of VAT Input taxes claimed; (c) landed cost of imports and the amount of customs duties and 

tariff fees; (d) amount of excise taxes, classified per major product category; (e) documentary stamp 

tax (DST) on loan instruments and other transactions; (f) all other taxes, local and national, license and 

permit fees lodged under taxes and licenses account both under the Cost of sales and operating expense 

accounts; (g) amount of withholding taxes;(h) periods covered and amounts of deficiency assessments; 

and (i) tax cases and amounts involved. 

 

In compliance with the requirements set forth by RR 15-2010, the following taxes are either paid or 

accrued by the Company. 

 

1. The following table shows the Company’s commission and VAT output declared as of December 

31, 2023 and 2022: 

2023 2022 

Commission 6,516,673₱                 ₱               8,879,683 

VAT output 782,001                                        1,065,562 
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2. The amount VAT Input taxes claimed are broken down as follows: 

2023 2022 

Beginning of the year 15,030₱                      ₱                    16,119 

Current year's purchases

I. Goods other than for resale or manufacture 204,093                                           142,874 

158,993                                           158,993 

Application against output VAT (96,157)                                          (143,963)

Balance at the end of the year 62,836₱                      ₱                    15,030 

 
3. Landed Cost, Customs’ Duties and Tariff Fees 

 

The Company did not have any importations in 2023 and 2022 that would require for the payment 

of customs duties and tariff fees. 

 

4. Excise Tax 

 

The Company have transactions in 2023 amounting to ₱5,282,594 which are subject to percentage 

tax. 

 

5. Documentary Stamp Tax 

 

The Company did not have any transactions in 2023 and 2022 which are subject to documentary 

stamp tax. 

 

6. Taxes and Licenses 

 

The details of taxes and licenses are shown as part of expenses follows: 

 

2023 2022 

Local

Real estate taxes  ₱                    50,256  ₱                    50,256 

Business permits and licenses                       368,999                       260,607 

National

BIR Annual Registration                              500                              500 

 ₱                  419,755  ₱                  311,363 
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7. Withholding Taxes 

 

The details of total withholding taxes for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as 

follows: 

 

2023 2022

National Internal Revenue Taxes

Withholding taxes

Withholding Tax on Compensation 369,525₱                   457,438₱                   

Expanded Withholding Tax 141,066                     181,007                     

Final Withholding Tax 157,745                     148,559                     

668,336₱                   787,004₱                   
 

 

8. Deficiency Tax Assessments and Tax Cases 

 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any final deficiency tax assessments 

from the BIR nor does it have tax cases outstanding or pending in courts or bodies outside of the 

BIR in any of the open years. 

 

 

31. Summary of Non-Cash Transactions Arising from Investing and Financing Activities 

The Company has no noncash transactions arising from investing and financing activities in 2023 and 

2022. 

 

 

 

 




































